Guidance on Key Method Components of the Proposed Improved Native Forest Management ACCU Method: Comments and Analysis

Prof Brendan Mackey¹, Dr Heather Keith¹ & Prof Dvid Lindenmayer²

¹Climate Action Beacon, Griffith University, Queensland ²Fenner School of Environment and Society The Australian National University

Contract: (email) b.mackey@griffith.edu.au

June 2025

Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Summary of Key Points	3
SECTION A: Overarching Climate and Biodiversity Issues	3
SECTION B: Assessing the proposed INFM method	4
Conclusions	7
Detailed Comments	8
Section A: Overarching Considerations	8
1. Net zero and the role of offsets	8
2. Reducing the risks to forest ecosystem carbon reservoirs and sinks	9
3. Meeting existing policy commitments	10
4. Forests and climate policy and accounting rules	11
Section B: The proposed INFM ACCU method	13
1. Establishing a credible baseline against which to assess 'Additionality'	13
2. Eligible project activities	16
3. Ensuring permanence	18
4. Leakage	19
5. Coverage of carbon pools	20
6. Revisions needed to FullCAM	20
References	21
Appendix 1 Mitigation benefits of native forest protection	27

Introduction

This submission responds to the 'Guidance on key method components' of the proposal by the NSW Government to develop an 'Improved Native Forest Management'(INFM) method for generating Australian Carbon Credit Units (ACCUs) from two activities: ceasing harvesting and deferring harvesting. Our submission is in two parts.

In Section A we consider key overarching considerations relevant to assessing whether the method is fit for the purpose of delivering robust, low risk, climate mitigation outcomes in native forests and identify changes needed to policy and rules to help address the entwined climate and biodiversity crises we face. In this section we consider:

- Net Zero and the role of offsets and changes needed to guide the future development and use of ACCUs;
- The importance of protecting and restoring biodiversity and forest ecosystem integrity for climate mitigation and adaptation;
- The need for forest management to reflect new knowledge on the linkages between logging and threats that are increasing with climate change;
- The implications of Australia's international policy commitments on climate and biodiversity for forest management; and
- The need to modify current approaches to forest carbon accounting.

In Section B we examine the technical parameters of the proposed method in light of the above considerations. We provide detailed comments on issues related to:

- The proposed baseline and related challenges for ensuring 'additionality";
- The adequacy of proposals aimed at preventing 'Leakage';
- The assumptions underpinning the approach taken to address 'Permanence'.

Comments are also provided on some of the technical challenges associated with the proposed method as well as limitations created by current Land Use Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) accounting rules.

A summary of key points from Sections A and B is first presented on pages 2-7, followed by our detailed comments on both these sections.

Summary of Key Points

SECTION A: Overarching Climate and Biodiversity Issues

1. Net zero and the role of offsets

The assumption that fossil fuel emissions can be neutralized by sequestration in land and forests is, as the 'Guidance on key method components' recognizes, incorrect. As noted by Becken et al. (2024) (1):

Net Zero Emissions (NZE is achieved when all anthropogenic (i.e., human caused) CO_2 emissions (as well as other greenhouse gases) are reduced to the rate at which they can be removed and permanently stored by the natural sinks, i.e., the world's ecosystems and oceans".

As we are now approaching the 1.5 degree global warming threshold and on track to around 3 degrees of warming (2), it is critical that use of offsets does not delay the rapid transition away from fossil fuels to non-carbon renewable energy sources. Limiting warming to as close as possible to 1.5 degrees requires not only a rapid exit from fossil fuels(3), but also the protection and recovery of carbon dense natural ecosystems, especially native forests.

Protecting native forests would make a significant contribution to reducing emissions from logging and increasing the removal of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere (see Appendix 1), provided those benefits are assessed at a landscape scale, and are not negated by deferring reductions in fossil fuel emissions, deferring emissions from logging, or hidden by gross GHG accounting(4).

The current policy approach to generating and trading in ACCUs should be strengthened to ensure offsets are only a temporary measure that help reduce reliance on fossil fuels. All purchasers of ACCUs should be required to have a clear and transparent transition plan that demonstrates that the strategy of the mitigation hierarchy has been followed and that offsets are being used only as a last resort to address residual emissions. Adopting a "cap and trade" system that rapidly (e.g., on an annual basis) ratchets down the permitted use of offsets would help ensure offsets cannot be used to delay reductions in fossil fuel emissions. Developing separate goals and targets for: (i) emissions reduction from all anthropogenic sources and (ii) CO₂ removals by native ecosystems that would be a useful complementary mitigation policy.

2. Reducing the risks to forest ecosystem carbon reservoirs

Protecting and restoring forest ecosystem integrity and all the elements of biodiversity that underpin their integrity, is essential for reducing the risk of releasing stored carbon in forests to the atmosphere and stopping reaching thresholds that impede forest ecosystem function(5). Forests are at increasing risk of releasing stored carbon to the atmosphere as a result of the interaction between logging and threats from severe drought and fire that are increasing with climate change. The science is clear that logging increases the severity of fire in native forests. Prevailing approaches to sustainable forest management are now out-dated and obscure the urgency of protecting and recovering the integrity of forest ecosystems for both the survival of native species and retaining their climate mitigation value (5).

3. Existing policy commitments

Meeting existing policy commitments under the UNFCCC Global Stocktake decision at COP 28 (CMA5 para33) (6) and the CBD at COP 16 (Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (K-M GBF) (7), and Australia's domestic commitments to reverse our trajectory on species loss and decline, requires substantial additional protection and recovery action in those native forests currently available for logging. Providing the additional protection and recovery action needed to restore viable populations of native wildlife across their natural range should not be dependent upon, nor governed by, the ability to generate ACCUs.

4. Carbon accounting rules

Current carbon accounting rules are inappropriate for complex, bio-diverse natural ecosystems including native forests. Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Accounting rules for land and forests have failed to keep pace with changes in the international policy arena and should be supplemented to reflect the superior provision of ecosystem services (including long-term carbon retention) by forests that are not logged and have lower risk of loss (5).

The ecosystem accounting framework developed by the UN Statistical Commission, the System of Environmental Economic Accounting Ecosystem Accounting (UN SEEA-EA) (8) and adopted by the Australian Government in their commitment to ongoing reporting of the National Ecosystem Accounts (9), should be applied for assessing ecosystem carbon stocks and changes. This framework is applicable at regional and state scales as well as the national scale and integrates climate and biodiversity considerations based on the principle of evaluating ecosystem integrity. It enables governments to reflect the economic benefits of protecting and restoring natural ecosystems utilizing a reference level (or baseline) of the natural ecosystem at carbon carrying capacity.

SECTION B: Assessing the proposed INFM method

Introductory comments

The Carbon Farming Initiative Act (CFI) aims to ensure that projects 'result in carbon abatement that is unlikely to occur in the ordinary course of events'. By including deferral of harvesting and ceasing of harvesting in the same method, satisfying this fundamental requirement becomes doubtful. So too does the proposal to adopt a historical baseline that excludes the impacts of wildfire until the first 5 yearly review.

The mitigation benefit of ending logging is much greater than the mitigation benefit from deferring logging which is short term, higher risk, and far more complex to assess, regulate and monitor. The difference in mitigation benefit between ceasing harvesting and deferring harvesting is so great they should be considered as different methods (10, 11). The differences include both theoretical and technical challenges of developing a methodology.

Ceasing logging enhances natural ecological processes and the quantum and stability of carbon storage (11), as well as reducing the risk of emissions due to disturbances, particularly fire, but also tree decline and mortality from drought and pests. Differences in the risks of emissions from carbon stocks in the different scenarios have not been included in the method.

A method crediting the abatement from ceasing native forest logging for an entire State or agency would overcome many of the problems regarding adequacy of data, predictions of sustainable yield and potential future harvesting. Ending native forest logging nationally would annually avoid 7-11 Mt CO_2e emissions and enable ongoing removals of 2 Mt CO_2e which are otherwise forgone This would make a significant contribution to meeting Australia's Paris COP Agreement commitment of a 43% reduction in 2005-level carbon emissions and helping close the current annual gap of around 85 Mt CO_2e (see Appendix 1).

1. Baseline issues and additionality

An historical baseline is not scientifically credible

Action is urgently needed to halt and reverse the extinction trajectory of key forest species. It is not scientifically tenable to conclude that in the absence of ACCUs no further action would be taken to conserve and restore endangered species habitat for the 15-year crediting period of the project, which is the counterfactual assumption in the method.

At a minimum, we recommend that a credible baseline must be informed by independent assessments of: (i) management changes needed to reverse the decline of threatened and endangered species, including core areas requiring protection and those areas required to enable species movement and recovery; and (ii) if the decision is made by the government for native forest logging to continue, what areas could still be available for logging and what products are feasible to produce, once the protection, connectivity and recovery needs of wildlife are addressed.

Weaknesses in the approach to developing modified sustained yield

The proposal to modify sustained yield to improve the correlation between the estimate of sustained yield as published prior to 1 July, 2024 and log production would need to be independently reviewed to ensure significant errors regarding the overestimation of log volumes in years 2022-2024 reported by the Forestry Corporation of NSW (FCNSW) in October 2024 (12), and by news outlets (13), are accurately reflected in modified sustained yield. Questions about how far back these significant errors go must also be answered.

The proposal to exclude the financial year and two subsequent years from the calculation of modified sustained yield if 25% or more of "the net harvestable area is affected by wildfire", on the basis that they are not representative of normal operating conditions, ignores the reality that increases in the prevalence of winter droughts and dangerous fire weather conditions are resulting from climate change (14).

Impacts of the 2019/20 fires on native forest structure and function will be evident for many decades (15) and should be reflected in the calculated modified sustained yield. Legacy impacts of past major disturbance events will interact with, and likely amplify, the impacts of future major disturbance events (16). Waiting until the next major disturbance event to modify sustained yield would create a major flaw in the baseline. The increasing risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere and differentiating those risks based on forest age classes and protection status should be incorporated in the baseline.

Accounting for emissions from wildfire

The proposed accounting treatment of wildfire in the method requires expert knowledge of Australia's approach to reporting and accounting for emissions from 'non-anthropogenic fire'.

While improvements are being made in the National Greenhouse Gas Inventory (NGGI) to reflect the increasing role that human-induced climate change is playing in severe to catastrophic fires, much more needs to be done to reflect the role of fragmentation, logging and other forms of degradation on increasing fire severity and thus emissions (17). Additionally, there is an escalating risk of future emissions if forest ecosystem integrity continues to decline as we head beyond 1.5 degrees of global warming. The credibility is waning of accounting approaches that fail to take into account the full range of anthropogenic factors that increase fire extent and severity and their interaction with threats that are increasing with climate change.

A superior baseline is needed

A baseline that provides an incentive to recover forest ecosystem integrity and lost carbon stocks is needed and the appropriate science-based one is the natural carbon carrying capacity of native forests at a landscape scale (18). Such a baseline can be empirically estimated from old growth forests and forests minimally disturbed by logging, which are stable, within the bounds of an ecological dynamic equilibrium, and not subject to oversimplifying assumptions. Management actions that help recover lost forest carbon stocks would then focus on restoring forest ecosystem integrity and stability. This approach would maximize the climate mitigation value of native forests and minimize the risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere.

The assumptions underpinning the proposed baseline are highly likely to be incorrect given the ongoing loss and damage to hollow bearing trees and forest ecosystem integrity decline in forest ecosystem integrity under current management for commodity production (19), the need to rapidly address the entwined climate and biodiversity crises and policy commitments made under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (K-M GBF) (7) and the UN Climate Change Conference at COP 28 (20). It is not credible to assume that in the absence of ACCU's there would be no change in forest management to address these issues over the 15-year crediting period.

2. Eligible project Activities

Allowing activities of both cessation and deferral of logging in the same method and the same project area increases the complexity of establishing a baseline and assessing leakage. It means that decisions about which activity is used to claim ACCUs and which areas could produce the best carbon credit gain will be open to manipulation and blind to biodiversity and other ecosystem integrity issues. Choosing which areas are subject to which activity will not be based on conservation needs but on economic returns from ACCUs.

The hurdle requirement

"Projects are only eligible to receive ACCU's if both the levels of harvesting and the volumes of wood extracted from the project area are greater than or equal to 20% below the level in the baseline scenario". This requirement could be easily gamed. For example, the reduction could be achieved by ceasing logging in a portion of the project area and maintaining modified sustained yield levels within the rest of the project area - choosing to cease logging in low productivity sites to generate ACCU's and cross subsidize logging. Reducing logging and wood volumes by 20% is less than the periodic downwards revisions by FCNSW (see above) suggesting that if a hurdle requirement was implemented, this figure is too low.

Harvested wood products

All harvested wood products are relatively short term and make a negligible contribution to long-term carbon storage when compared to leaving forests *in situ* as the small percentage of wood classified as long lived has an average longevity of 35 years (10). The global estimated carbon sink in wood products between 2006-2019 was halved by the IPCC reflecting accounting changes (21).

The proposed percentages assigned to harvested wood products and logging slash of 20% slash, and 50% each for pulp and saw logs are highly contentious, and in some RFA regions will be grossly inaccurate. The proposed treatment of Harvested Wood Products (HWP) is highly likely to artificially inflate the carbon benefit of harvested wood products and be open to manipulation.

3. Ensuring permanence

Greenhouse gas emissions from the 2019/20 fires were greater than the total reported emissions from all sectors in Australia in 2018 (22). Climate trends and the interaction between logging and threats that are increasing with climate change, like severe fire, must inform mechanisms designed to promote permanence. Preventing logging in all native forests and fostering ecological recovery across the entire native forest estate would significantly reduce the risks to carbon storage from severe drought and fire (23, 24). The proposed 5% risk of reversal buffer, taken from ACCU's issued over the 15-year crediting period, would be highly unlikely to cover either the risk of loss over the crediting period or the escalating risk of loss, over the permanence period.

4. Leakage

Dealing with leakage is a critically important challenge for the method. Without tight controls, leakage between states, RFA regions, and into private native forests will occur. The arguments presented about leakage between states do not stand up against recent experience and cross subsidisation of native forest logging within a project area is inevitable. Preventing leakage into private native forests seems highly unlikely given "the absences of sustained yield estimates for most private native forests". These problems are further compounded by "High levels of uncertainty in log production estimates and in how wildfire events affect harvesting activity and log production".

Preventing leakage relies on an unprecedented level of accuracy in data and regulatory and monitoring capacity and integrity over long periods of time. It is worth reflecting on the work done by community organisations in monitoring NSW forest management agencies and regulators for breaches to current regulatory arrangements (13, 25, 26).

5. Coverage of carbon pools

Soil organic carbon is excluded from the method. While it is acknowledged that estimation of soil carbon stocks and detecting change in stocks at landscape scales is challenging, the scientific evidence shows that logging depletes soil carbon stocks and thus omitting soil will underestimate the losses of carbon from harvesting (27).

6. Revisions needed to FullCAM

The proposed initial inventory of forest carbon stocks in the project area used to calibrate FullCAM should include old growth sites and other high integrity, long unlogged sites, to provide a reference condition that can be used to calibrate the carbon carrying capacity, and hence the potential carbon gain of regenerating forests (as recommended above). The likely impacts on forest productivity of increases in climate variability and extreme weather-related events should also be incorporated into the model. The increased risks of losing forest ecosystem carbon stocks to the atmosphere from keeping forests in a relatively young age class must also be factored into modelling.

The carbon storage potential of a forest region (i.e., the additional carbon that would be removed and stored in the ecosystem if logging ceases) should be considered at a landscape scale inclusive of the effects of natural disturbance regimes on the age distribution of the forest and rates of carbon gain and loss. The total carbon storage may vary over time within a range defined by the variability in response to the disturbance regime. However, the time-averaged storage of carbon remains; it is not temporary storage. Changes should be reported as gross changes in stocks, emissions and removals.

Conclusions

Our conclusions are based on the methodological limitations and issues noted above (and discussed with further evidence provided, in the following sections). We conclude that the proposed method will very likely not deliver robust climate mitigation outcomes nor deliver synergistic climate and biodiversity outcomes. Despite explicit mechanisms in the method that aim at minimising opportunities to manipulate data and game the system, we can find no convincing evidence that the necessary rigour and independence of data, monitoring and regulation would be achievable and cost-effective. Maintaining logging puts all forests at greater risk of losing carbon to the atmosphere. A lower risk approach to protecting and restoring forest carbon sequestration and storage that would still benefit NSW and Australia's GHG Accounts, would be to simply transition the timber industry out of native forests and incentivise the investments that would enable supply to be wholly sourced from plantations which currently provides 85% of logs harvested in NSW (28). The mitigation benefits to state and federal GHG accounts from protecting substantial areas of native forest have been demonstrated for Tasmania (4).

Detailed Comments

Section A: Overarching Considerations

1. Net zero and the role of offsets

Net Zero Emissions. Rather, they refer to achieving a balance of emissions and removals in the atmosphere and ensuring emissions reduction occurs in all sectors of the economy. Net zero emissions only makes scientific sense in the context of the global carbon cycle as CO_2 is taken up from the atmosphere by several distinct processes that have hugely different time constants. On an annual basis about 1/3 is taken up by ecosystems and another 1/3 dissolves in the ocean surface. About 60% is removed from the atmosphere on a time scale of 100 years but it takes a very long time to remove the remaining 40%. A 'pulse' or unit of fossil fuel CO_2 emitted to the atmosphere is only fully removed from the atmosphere so that it no longer interacts with the climate system when it has completely dissolved in the deep ocean through dissolution of carbonate from ocean sediments and enhanced weathering of silicate rocks. This means that 20–35% of the fossil fuel CO_2 emitted will still be in the atmosphere after 2–20 millennia (29).

Burning fossil fuels (geological carbon) and attempting to offset those immediate emissions through removals by the biosphere is inherently complex, high risk and from a science perspective inaccurate. The physical reality is that Net Zero Emissions (NZE) is achieved only when all anthropogenic (i.e., human caused) CO₂ emissions (as well as other greenhouse gases) are reduced to the rate at which they can be removed and permanently stored by the natural sinks, i.e., the world's ecosystems and oceans (1). Attempting to achieve "Net Zero Emissions" on an annual net flux basis through an unsustainable combination of fossil-fuel emissions and short-term removals is therefore ultimately pointless as carbon emissions and removals have only decadal time scales in which to achieve balance. We are concerned that a simplistic, short-term interpretation of "Net Zero" simply increases the demand for carbon offsets and dilutes the focus on reducing emissions from all sources.

Even ignoring the physical realities about the global carbon cycle noted above, a simplistic application of Net Zero thinking that allows a unit of fossil fuel CO₂ emissions to be offset by the purchase of a carbon credit yields a zero-sum outcome which means we are not reducing emissions but merely "treading water". Given that global warming is approaching the 1.5 degree threshold and current emissions are on a pathway that will lead to 3 degrees of warming (2), it is imperative that we prevent offsets delaying the much needed rapid exit from fossil fuels. Allowing offsets increases the risk that high emitting industries will delay or not make the structural changes required for permanent decarbonization. The report by the High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Commitments of Non-State Entities raised concern of the "undue reliance on the use of offsets and potential unrealistic dependence on removals (in lieu of concrete mitigation action) to reduce absolute emissions which is the priority this decade"(30). The Science-Based Targets initiative (Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi), 2021) emphasises the need to maximise emissions reductions before any actions that aim to compensate for unabated emissions via removal credits (1, 31).

To encourage companies to "do the right thing", many countries have set strict limits on offset use within their cap-and-trade systems. For example, the European Union initially capped offset use at 50% of emissions reductions. Two years later, in 2021, the EU phased them out completely. In China, offset use within cap-and-trade schemes is strictly capped at less than 10%, and is as low as 5% in Beijing and 1% in Shanghai. In contrast, in Australia it is estimated that by 2030, 60% to 80% of the emissions reductions achieved by the Safeguard Mechanism will have been delivered not via fossil fuel reductions, but via offsets. Australia's exceptionally high reliance on offsets is therefore of concern (32).

In this context, a strict mitigation hierarchy (i.e., avoid emissions, reduce emissions, and then compensate for any residual emissions) should be applied by Federal and State Governments before allowing the purchase of offsets by any organization. Furthermore, we recommend:

- (a) Separate targets should be developed for (i) emissions reduction and (ii) emissions removals by forest growth; and
- (b) Any carbon credits should be embedded within a cap-and-trade system that rapidly (e.g., annually) reduces the cap so that the use of offsets is ratcheted down.

2. Reducing the risks to forest ecosystem carbon reservoirs and sinks

The vulnerability of carbon storage in the land sector was recognised in the first report by the NSW Net Zero Commission in 2025 (33). This vulnerability warrants further explanation.

We face an unprecedented and entwined set of escalating risks as global warming and biodiversity loss escalate. These existential threats to human well-being can be prevented only if we tackle the climate and biodiversity challenges together. As the first ever joint workshop of the scientific advisory bodies to the Climate Convention (IPCC) and Biodiversity Convention (IPBES) noted in 2021, the climate and biodiversity crises amplify each other and urgent synergistic action to protect and restore carbondense and species-rich ecosystems is needed (34).

Ecosystem integrity refers to an ecosystem's capacity to maintain its characteristic composition, structure, functioning and self-organisation over time within a range of natural variability. It is underpinned by its natural patterns of biodiversity including diversity at the genetic, species and community levels. High-integrity ecosystems have greater stability, resilience, capacity to adapt, and provide higher quality ecosystem assets and services that contribute to human wellbeing – including the ability to sequester and store carbon over the long-term (5).

The functional roles in an ecosystem of biodiversity at all levels (genetic, species and community) is the product of natural selection that yields the characteristic species and community assemblages best suited to prevailing environmental conditions, including fluctuating resource inputs, extreme events, periods of stress and natural disturbances, and thus underpins ecosystem integrity. Ecosystem integrity is fundamental to maximising an ecosystem's capacity to adapt to change as well as retaining its most important climate mitigation value, namely, securing long-lived and relatively stable carbon stocks (reservoirs), together with improving the security of other important ecosystem services (35).

All ecosystems are dynamic and dependent on their full complement of native species for healthy functioning. In forests, soil biota, invertebrates and fungi break down litter and coarse woody debris on the forest floor, recycling nutrients, and increasing soil organic matter content and the retention of carbon in forest soils; pollinators and seed dispersers help maintain the natural vegetation composition which influences resistance to insects, disease, drought and fire; and many vertebrate species support and help determine forest composition and structure. In old growth and other natural forests undisturbed by modern industrial activities, natural species composition, patterns and structure of biodiversity, including the presence of big old trees, result in forests being more drought and fire resistant and resilient including through increasing forest moisture and reducing the flammability of biomass (17, 36, 37).

Loss of big old trees (which comprise 1-5% of trees globally but store 25-50% of the above ground carbon in forests (38) and other critical elements of biodiversity, combined with edge effects from roads and other impacts from logging disturbance, increase the vulnerability of forests to severe drought, heatwaves and fire as well as other human-induced threats such as insect predation and disease. All these threats are increasing with climate change and interact with logging to increase fire severity and the risk of forest ecosystems reaching tipping points in their functioning. Degraded forests are at much greater risk of losing carbon to the atmosphere than high integrity forests (5, 35). This

means that harvesting operations in unlogged and long unlogged forests (that have recovered old growth conditions) reduces the ecological integrity of forest ecosystems, resulting in otherwise avoidable CO₂ emissions, and an increase in their vulnerability to climate-related risks. Minimising industrial disturbance in forests is therefore critically important for sequestering, storing and retaining carbon over the long-term.

Even long-term rotations (100-150 years) can have significant negative impacts on forest ecosystem integrity and biodiversity. For example, large old trees that provide critical habitat for cavity-dependent wildlife often exceed 170 years old (39). The depletion of this critical habitat resource results in an increase in the risk of extinction for the dependent species (40). Forests logged for commodity production are managed to maintain stand age well below that required for cavity development as well as the age at which the ecosystem reaches its natural carbon carrying capacity (41). Long rotations also alter the composition of dominant tree species in forests (e.g., increasing dominance of fire-prone Silver-top Ash) that in turn lead to modified forest that becomes a poor quality nutritional landscapes for threatened species such as the Koala and Southern Greater Glider (42). Reducing the risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere, and of reaching forest ecosystem tipping points such as landscape as is happening in parts of the Central Highlands of Victoria (43), is therefore dependent on both reducing gross emissions from all sources (fossil fuel and logging) while allowing degraded forest ecosystems to recover their integrity and lost carbon stocks.

3. Meeting existing policy commitments

Bringing climate and biodiversity policy and practice together is now a policy imperative as emphasized by the decision taken at UNFCCC COP 28 which noted:

"...the importance of conserving, protecting and restoring nature and ecosystems towards achieving the Paris Agreement temperature goal, including through enhanced efforts towards halting and reversing deforestation and forest degradation by 2030, and other terrestrial and marine ecosystems acting as sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases and by conserving biodiversity, while ensuring social and environmental safeguards, in line with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework; " (Para 33 from COP 28 CMA 5) (20).

An historic decision taken by the UNCBD at COP 16 in 2024 (decision 16/22) recognized that:

"... biodiversity and ecosystem integrity play an important role in combating climate change"; "protecting and restoring ecological integrity contributes to addressing both climate change and biodiversity loss, and its impacts"; and "the essential functional role of biodiversity in underpinning the integrity of ecosystems and ecosystem services. Governments agreed to "identify and maximize potential synergies between biodiversity and climate actions, including by prioritizing the protection, restoration and management of ecosystems and species important for the full carbon cycle and contributing to climate change adaptation".

Both the Climate Convention and Paris Agreement call for the conservation of ecosystem carbon reservoirs (Article 4.1 (d) and Article 5.1, respectively). The Paris Agreement also emphasizes the need to protect and restore biodiversity and ecosystem integrity. Since 2018, successive decisions by the UNFCCC have encouraged synergistic climate and biodiversity action. Implementing these actions requires understanding the complex relationships between the natural patterns and components of biodiversity and ecosystem integrity and why retaining and restoring ecological integrity is fundamentally important for minimizing the risks to ecosystem carbon reservoirs (stocks) from logging and other human activities.

Meeting existing policy commitments to protect and restore biodiversity and ecosystem integrity necessitates additional protection and recovery action in forests currently available for logging.

However, we can see no reason why providing the additional protection and recovery action needed to restore viable populations of native wildlife across their natural range should be dependent upon, nor governed by, the need to generate ACCUs. There are a range of more appropriate and cost-effective policy options available to both Federal and State governments.

4. Forests and climate policy and accounting rules

Climate policy and rules in Australia, including those governing the generation of ACCU's in land and forests, have not been revised to reflect the importance of synergistic climate and biodiversity action, nor the importance of protecting and restoring biodiversity and ecosystem integrity for long term, successful climate mitigation (44).

Australia's business-as-usual focus on accounting for net annual emissions - with rules designed to suit plantations, highly modified forests and planting more trees - is based on current Land Use Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) rules which are blind to: (i) management actions that influence the stability and risks to ecosystem carbon stocks; (ii) the importance of ecosystem integrity for retaining carbon stocks over the long term; and (iii) the functional role of biodiversity in underpinning ecosystem integrity. Current frameworks for developing ACCUs therefore fail to factor in the importance of biodiversity and ecosystem integrity for achieving low risk, relatively stable long-term climate mitigation benefits. The well-established scientific understanding of the role of biodiversity in ecosystem integrity, and the significant role of ecosystems in the global carbon cycle, necessitates revising or at least supplementing current LULUCF accounting rules to include information on the longevity, stability and risks to ecosystem carbon stocks (i.e., reservoirs) as governed by the integrity of the ecosystem.

The importance of identifying differences in the ecological integrity of ecosystems (ecosystem integrity) is highlighted by the work of the UN Statistical Commission in the development and refinement of the new global statistical standard for the System of Environmental Economic Accounting - Ecosystem Accounts (SEEA-EA) that incorporates the measurement of condition of ecosystem assets (8). This framework includes an important definition of ecosystem integrity which provides the reference level of the natural ecosystem for evaluating indicators of ecosystem condition against which degraded or modified ecosystems can be compared. The condition of ecosystem assets is linked to the provision of ecosystem services, whereby ecosystems with a high level of integrity, as assessed by their condition indicators, are associated with the benefits of high levels of services such as the retention of large, stable carbon reservoirs. This framework allows assessment of ecosystem integrity to be included in national balance sheets (8).

Improving the capacity to monitor ecosystem integrity is essential to assess whether we are in fact achieving Global Biodiversity Framework objectives and UNFCCC goals. Existing frameworks are often not sufficiently accurate or precise to monitor progress towards CBD and UNFCCC Convention goals. Creating synergies between biodiversity and climate actions requires a common information base using a standardized framework, guidance and metrics that is provided by the SEEA-EA. Ecosystem accounts are being compiled and used for land management decision-making at local, regional, national and continental scales, with some 94 countries producing some national-level ecosystem accounts, including Australia (45). The data in these existing accounts, and their ongoing refinements, can be used for national reporting under the Paris Agreement and The Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (GBF).

The ability of ecosystems to retain carbon over the long term is one of their most important climate mitigation services (29, 46). Climate policy and practice in the Land Sector and especially native forests, can be dramatically improved by prioritizing the protection and recovery of the natural patterns, distribution, abundance, composition, structure and genetic diversity of biodiversity to reduce the risks

to ecosystem carbon stocks, retain and increase sequestration (i.e., their sink capacity) and improve their resilience and ability to adapt to climate change (5).

Native forests contain the largest terrestrial carbon stock in NSW and to date have not been managed in ways that recognize the role of ecosystem integrity in their stability (i.e., resistance and resilience). One consequence is that the average carbon stock in production native forests is well below levels found in unlogged forests; 30%-70% depending on forest type and past logging practices (11, 47). Provided action is taken to protect and restore forest ecosystem integrity, native forests would have significant potential to recover lost carbon stocks. However, achieving this requires a sharp focus on improving the outlook for biodiversity at all levels. In particular, this requires the cessation of native forest logging that has significant effects on many elements of forest biodiversity (48).

Section B: The proposed INFM ACCU method

1. Establishing a credible baseline against which to assess 'Additionality'

Adopting an historical baseline assumes there would be no change to native forest protection for the 15-year crediting period in the absence of ACCUs. This assumption ignores: (i) the increasing climate and ecological constraints on logging; (ii) biodiversity policy commitments made by governments; and (iii) lacks any explicit scientific or economic justification. Recent market developments point to a further substantial drop in demand for native forest products as evidenced by recent statistics on harvested log volumes (28). A forward-looking baseline would be better suited to the 15-year project period and 100-year permanence period.

A baseline must take into account the science supporting the need for increased protection, connectivity and restoration of forests to help reverse biodiversity loss and protect threatened and endangered wildlife. An independent scientific assessment is needed of the cumulative impact of past logging and fire on the current ecological condition of the entire (i.e., state-wide) native forest estate.

A counterfactual baseline that is science-based and relevant for climate mitigation is to use estimates of the carbon stored in natural forest ecosystems, inclusive of impacts from natural disturbance regimes and minimally disturbed (or long-undisturbed) by logging or other human activities. Management actions that help recover lost forest carbon stocks in the shortest ecologically feasible timelines would then focus on recovering forest ecosystem integrity and stability. Such an approach would minimize the risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere.

Wildlife recovery needs

Approximately 50% of native forests and woodlands have been lost in NSW alone since European colonisation. A recent study found that 150 threatened species, listed under a regulatory system that is meant to improve the outlook for biodiversity in NSW, were found to be adversely affected by ongoing logging (19). The Federal Government made fresh commitments under the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework of the Convention on Biological Diversity (K-M GBF) at COP 15 to halt and reverse species loss by 2030. And in 2023 Australia committed, along with every other signatory to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, to prevent deforestation and forest degradation and align climate action in land and forests with the K-M GBF (COP 28 CMA 5, para 33.) Scientific studies, including those involving robust citizen science, can and have identified the significant additional protection needed for these commitments are to be achieved. Climate refuges, habitat connectivity pathways (49), and critically important core habitat for Greater Glider (50), Koala, and other threatened forest species in production native forests are among the protection and recovery issues that urgently need to be addressed.

The authors of this report were all involved in aspects of the Regional Forest Agreement (RFA) process and it was clear to us that a long-term problem for wildlife was created by the decision rule applied during the Regional Forest Agreement (RFA) process of choosing the "least cost to wood production" option for meeting reservation targets (51). High productivity sites for wood are also high productivity sites in terms of carbon retention and habitat provision for wildlife. Low productivity sites are the first to be relinquished for conservation by logging agencies but often support low quality habitat for wildlife (52). Endangered wildlife can be in direct competition with the best areas from which to obtain wood (52, 53) The ability to protect core habitat for wildlife will be a key factor in determining the survival of these species in the wild and the viability of native forest logging.

Following the 2019/20 catastrophic bushfires, the Natural Resources Commission of NSW (NRC) recommended substantial cuts to the amount of logging over the following three years and that a rapid assessment be conducted "of forestry industry size, viability, and resilience to changes in wood supply

for south coast subregions in full consultation with industry" (54). Damage to wildlife habitat from the 2019/20 fires is being amplified by ongoing logging in lightly burned and unburned areas that provide a refuge for wildlife. Providing wildlife with the best chance of recovery - which will take decades and, in some cases, more than a century, even if all native forest logging ceases - requires urgent protection of remaining lightly burned and unburned areas .

The inadequacy of the government response to logging after the fires was outlined to the NSW EPA in a report commissioned by the EPA from AUSTECO Environmental Consulting in 2020 (55). The Executive Summary and recommendations contained the following notable conclusions:

- Fauna populations surviving in fire refuges in state forests were at risk of elimination by timber harvesting under the normal Coastal Integrated Forestry Operation Approvals (CIFOA)...and that the post fire Site Specific Operating Conditions developed by the EPA with the Forestry Commission of NSW "are inadequate to mitigate fire and logging impacts, primarily because the time frame (12 months) is too short"
- An examination of case studies indicated that protection of unburnt and lightly burnt areas could mitigate logging impacts in burnt landscapes if it was made permanent (or longer than 20–120 years) and extended to protect 50% of the least burnt area of forest in each compartment across the entire landscape."
- New conditions are required that focus on permanent protection of large forest patches across regions and landscapes and which capture and include fire refuges...and old growth and which link all retained forest patches larger than 5 hectares in size in a network of permanent wildlife corridors.

We recommend that an independent analysis be undertaken of the current ecological condition of native forests and habitat and wildlife recovery needs to inform any ACCU baseline

Market trends

Wood production from the native forest sector has been in decline for the past 25 years. In the year 2022-23, before native forest logging ceased in Western Australia and Victoria, native forest sawlog and pulplog production fell by 24% and 37%, respectively (56).

Emerging changes in demand for wood products show a further decline in demand for native forest timber. China is reportedly scaling back its imports of Australian woodchips now that its own hardwood plantation estate is on stream (57). Essential Energy has a network of 1.33 million poles that, according to its modelling, are likely to experience increased risk of failure due to climate change and in particular the impact of bushfires on the network (58). The most cost-effective resilient solution they have arrived at is replaced the wooden poles with ones made from fire resistant composite/steel/concrete. These changes in demand are significant as woodchips, pallets and power poles currently provide economic underpinning for the native forest sector.

We recommend an independent assessment of recent industry developments and market trends be undertaken to inform a counterfactual baseline suitable for a 15-year crediting period.

The treatment of wildfire in the baseline

It is inappropriate to assume that the impacts of the 2019/20 fires are not relevant for establishing a modified sustained yield baseline. Impacts of the 2019/20 fires on forest ecosystem integrity will be evident for many decades (15, 59) and should be reflected in modified sustained yield (60). Legacy impacts of past major disturbance events will interact with, and likely amplify, the impacts of future major disturbance events (61). Waiting until the next major disturbance event to modify sustained yield would create a major flaw in the baseline. Reflecting the increasing risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere following multiple disturbances and the impacts of climate change, and differentiating those risks based on forest age classes and protection status should be incorporated in the baseline.

These major disturbances "are provisionally defined as events likely to reduce carbon stocks by more than 15% across more than 20% of the net harvestable area in the project area" (Table 2.8 pp.10 & 32 method doc). Hence, this provision may include a range of impacts on forests, particularly wildfires but also tree mortality due to drought, peats and diseases.

The treatment of wildfire in the method does not provide a realistic scenario for the effects of fire in the Australian landscape - particularly as this threat is increasing as a result of climate change (62). The ability to exclude 3 years of the 10-year baseline period if more than 25% of the net harvestable area in the project area has been affected by wildfire, on the basis that they are not representative of normal operating conditions, would artificially inflate logging levels in the baseline. The explanation given in the guidance document is that "the inclusion of years impacted by major wildfire events in the calculations would mean the modified sustainable yield would incorporate the effects of these events, even though the method accounts for these impacts through the requirement for the sustainable yield to be recalculated following a major disturbance event". However, all years should be included in the baseline period and subsequent calculations of yield so that the effect of disturbance regimes are incorporated fully. Major bushfire events are the new fire climate norm and should not be assumed an anomaly. The evidence is clear that climate change has and will continue to worsen dangerous fire weather conditions in eastern and southern Australia(14)...

Calculating 'Modified sustained yield' and reliability of data

While the proposal to modify sustained yield to improve the correlation between the estimate of sustained yield - as published prior to 1 July, 2024 - and log production is appropriate, the proposed reductions in sustained yield would need to be independently reviewed to ensure errors reported by FCNSW in October 2024 that halved log volumes previously reported for 2023 and errors reported by them in February 2025 that reduced previously reported log volumes by an average of a further 28% for each of the years 2022, 2023 and 2024, are accurately reflected in modified sustained yield (12, 13).

The proposed 'modified sustained yield' of 80% of the sustained yield as at mid-2024 - where there is 'sufficient correlation with log production' - and 60% of sustained yield "where there is not a sufficient correlation" - appears arbitrary. In the absence of further information, we recommend a deeper and independent assessment across the whole public native forest estate to provide the necessary data to substantiate such prescriptions.

As noted above, the impacts of the 2019/20 fires on forest ecosystem integrity will (a) be evident for many decades and should be reflected in modified sustained yield and (b) legacy impacts of past major disturbance events will interact with and likely amplify, the impacts of future major disturbance events. Waiting until the next major disturbance event to modify sustained yield will create a major flaw in the baseline. Reflecting the increasing risk of losing forest carbon to the atmosphere and differentiating those risks based on forest age classes and protection status should be incorporated in the baseline. Excluding the financial year and two subsequent years from the calculation of modified sustained yield if 25% or more of "the net harvestable area is affected by wildfire", on the basis that they are not representative of normal operating conditions, ignores the reality - as noted above - that increases in severe drought and fire is, for the foreseeable future, the new norma'.

A wildfire may not reduce carbon stocks more than 15% (63) but would significantly affect ecological processes. Areas severely burnt take decades for trees to fully regenerate and vegetation structure and composition to re-establish. These areas therefore could not be logged for a long time. However, under the proposed method these areas would not be included in a post-disturbance revision of the modified sustainable yield. This means that the unburnt area of forest would be logged more intensively to produce the sustained yield calculated for the whole project area.

2. Eligible project activities

Cessation of logging compared to deferral of logging

One major difference between (i) ceasing logging, which avoids emissions and allows ongoing carbon removals from maintaining growth of native forests, and (ii) deferring harvesting that maintains logging operations within a given project area, is the resulting change in the condition of the ecosystem. Under the cessation of logging scenario, protection of forests will allow natural ecological processes to occur, enhancing the quantity and quality of carbon storage as forest ecosystem integrity improves, and reducing the risks to carbon storage from drought, fire, pests and disease. In contrast, under the deferred harvest scenario, full ecological recovery of the forest to a high level of ecosystem integrity is never achieved as forest growth is capped at the harvest age. Carbon stocks at the landscape scale are maintained at a lower level than their potential. Maintaining the forest estate at older ages means that the total storage of carbon in the biosphere reservoir is highest in forests that are never logged. Additionally, the risks associated with logging disturbance remain for the project lifetime and beyond. These fundamental differences in the risks of emissions from carbon stocks in the two scenarios are not reflected in the method. They highlight the importance of, and the benefits of, focusing solely on forest protection and recovery.

The landscape approach adopted to assess the mitigation benefits of ceasing logging is correct. This approach has been demonstrated to show that the mitigation benefit of ending logging is much greater than allowing logging to continue, even taking into account the carbon stored in wood products (9). The mitigation benefit from deferring logging is entirely debatable as this actually constitutes a short-term delayed emission. Furthermore, delayed emissions are far more complex to assess and monitor than the avoided emissions from ceasing logging. Allowing both activities - cessation and deferral of logging - increases the complexity of establishing a baseline and means that decisions about which activity is used to claim ACCUs and which areas could produce the best carbon credit gain would be open to manipulation and blind to forest conservation needs. Areas of greatest conservation value are unlikely to be protected in these circumstances.

Choosing which areas are subject to which of the two activities (i.e., deferral of harvesting and ceasing of harvesting) will not be based on conservation needs but on economic returns from ACCUs. Logging rotations are variable and care will be needed in assessing claims about lengthened logging rotations. Rotations as short as 20 -30 years can occur in areas predominantly producing woodchips. Markets have always played a major role in determining how Australia's forests are logged (64). Forest silvicultural management - including rotation lengths, reflected the needs of the woodchip market for almost 50 years - radically changing the native forest estate to the point where many forests are now dominated by young, even-aged stands. The intensity of logging is not merely determined by rotation lengths. Separating logging events in space and time is critically important. Sequential selective logging that removes hollow bearing trees in the same compartment over relatively short time frames can have broadly the same ecological impact as clear fell logging (65).

In the context of forests managed for commodity production, the term "sustainable" should be explicitly used to mean sustaining rates of timber production where the rate of harvest is equivalent to the rate of growth over a defined area. Timber harvesting is not sustainable in an ecological sense or in terms of carbon storage as it is a form of forest management that disrupts the natural ecological processes that maintain ecosystem integrity in terms of the composition, structure and function of the ecosystem and its carbon carrying capacity.

The accuracy and reliability of estimates of emissions from modest reductions in logging will be more open to question the smaller the project area. Management of forestry operations occurs at multiple scales and always has the capacity to be adjusted across regions to meet changes in requirements.

Plans are regularly re-designed in response to natural events. Areas able to be logged and wood volumes are never static, varying with weather, market requirements and unforeseen events. There is a very high chance that generating credits through modest reductions in logging and wood volumes would be open to manipulation. A method crediting abatement from ceasing harvesting for an entire State would lessen many of the problems regarding adequacy of data, predictions of sustainable yield and potential future harvesting.

The 'hurdle requirement'

The 'hurdle requirement' is designed to ensure a minimum reduction in logging intensity that can be claimed for a project area: "projects are only eligible to receive ACCUs if both the levels of harvesting and the volumes of wood extracted from the project area are greater than or equal to 20% below the level in the baseline scenario." This suggests that the minimum reduction could be achieved by ceasing logging in a portion of a project area and maintaining modified sustained yield levels within the rest of the project area, which would result in more intensive logging in areas where logging has not ceased. Furthermore, the 20% threshold is well below regularly reported error rates on log volumes (see above) indicating that a much higher hurdle requirement would be needed if it was going to be applied.

Harvested Wood Products

All harvested wood products are relatively short-term - in the context of the carbon cycle and the atmospheric lifetime of CO_2 - and make a negligible contribution to long-term carbon storage when compared to leaving forests in situ (10). Under the INFM method, woodchips are correctly treated as an almost instantaneous emission but there is no proposed category that appears to cover other very short-term products like pallets. The data input to models designed to attribute carbon storage to particular wood products will be vulnerable to manipulation as the categorisation of logs is open to subjective judgement based on market considerations and will be influenced by the availability of ACCU revenue.

The Land Gap Report, published in 2022, noted that: "The role of wood products for mitigation has been misrepresented, creating the false impression that carbon stored in products has a greater benefit than in forest ecosystems. The promotion of wood for construction as a mitigation strategy is based on the false assumption that wood provides emissions reduction benefits. Due to changes in how harvested wood products were accounted between the 2006 and 2019 IPCC guidelines, the carbon sink in wood products was halved (21). There is little evidence that wood is replacing steel and aluminium in major construction projects, and while their production currently is emissions intensive compared to wood, the situation will reverse as soon as these products transition to renewable, non-carbon energy sources. The use of wood for construction will always produce net emissions because the forest carbon stock is maintained at a lower level than an unlogged forest (10, 63). Wood products do provide a store of carbon for their lifetime, but this is small and ineffective as a mitigation action compared to keeping forests intact (66). Only 30% of harvested wood is used for what is classified as long-lived wood products (sawn wood and veneer) (67) and these have an average longevity of only 35 years (10).

The modelling to be used by the INFM method "assumes 80% of the harvested stemwood is extracted for products with the remaining 20% left as slash." "Logs were assumed to be 50% sawlogs and 50% pulp logs and methane recovery in landfill is 75%." The 2021-22 ABARES survey on wood processing published in 2024 found that the recovery rate from logs going to hardwood sawmills was 39% (68). A range in proportions of wood product and slash were reviewed by Keith et al. (2015) (10). A critical point that is not specified in the proposed method

is how the proportion of each component of forest ecosystem biomass is accounted. Typically, forestry data applies a proportion of the aboveground tree biomass that is harvested and divides this into that removed off-site for wood products and that remaining on-site as slash. However, the belowground biomass, understorey, non-commercial trees and dead biomass all remain on-site and are burnt as slash or decompose. Additionally, there is the proportion of the log volume that goes to waste during processing of products. All of these components contribute to creating a larger proportion of biomass where the carbon is emitted to the atmosphere in relatively short timescales. The volume of slash left on the forest floor is highly variable with much higher figures than 20% in most areas. Any assumptions about slash must be ground-checked and monitored closely. The assumption that logs are 50% pulp logs and 50% saw logs does not hold for all regions and varies with shifts in market demand as does the proportion of wood left on the ground.

In 2024 in Tasmania, native forest sawlogs and other high quality native forest products comprised less than 20% of total wood production whereas native forest pulp logs and other short lived products like firewood, sawdust and bark comprised close to 60% of total wood production (69).

3. Ensuring permanence

Activities for mitigation benefit should be credited only where the permanence of the carbon storage in the biosphere is ensured and that future mitigation efforts will also benefit. For any method prescribing mitigation activities to be effective, it must be scientifically robust and ensure the governance instruments to maintain the prescribed conditions over many decades.

Deferring forest harvesting delays but does not avoid emissions which merely serve to make the mitigation problem worse for future generations. A crediting period of 15 years is short in the timescale of forest growth and scientifically trivial in terms of mitigation benefit given the atmospheric life-time of a pulse of fossil fuel CO_2 (29).

Major disturbance events create risks to the carbon storage in forest ecosystem reservoirs. For example, GHG emissions from the 2019/20 fires were greater than the emissions from all sectors in 2018 (22). Reducing the severity and impacts of disturbance events such as drought and fire requires a management focus on improving overall forest ecosystem integrity at large landscape scales. Resistance to fire has been found to improve once forests reach 40+ years of age. Preventing logging in all long unlogged forests and fostering ecological recovery across the entire native forest estate would significantly reduce risks to carbon storage from severe drought and fire (70).

The proposed 5% risk of reversal buffer, taken from ACCUs issued over the 15-year crediting period, would be highly unlikely to cover either the risk of loss over the crediting period nor the escalating risk of loss over the permanence period — particularly under the 'deferred harvest' scenario. For the reasons noted above, all other things being equal, risks to stored carbon from drought and fire will increase more over the 100-year permanence period in the deferred logging scenario than in the cessation of logging scenario. A risk of reversal buffer does not insure against loss of income from selling ACCUs after fire and other natural disturbances or the costs of re-establishing carbon stores.

Insufficient attention has been paid to the interactions between the loss of forest ecosystem integrity, climate change and fire and the fact that fire severity in young re-growth forests is greater than in long unlogged forests (16). Deferral of harvesting will still result in logging and maintain a younger age distribution of the extant forest that exacerbates fire severity due to high debris loads, drier and windier microclimate and likely increased ignition sources (23, 24, 36).

A study in wet eucalypt forest found that the time taken to recover the forest carbon lost during severe wildfires is in the order of 8-10 years, however there is a significant shift in the proportions of the carbon stock in different pools of living and dead biomass (63). The chances of severe-catastrophic fire seasons occurring over the 100-year permanence period are high and likely to occur at some point during the 15-year crediting period of any given project. Other than 5 yearly reviews, there is no recommended mechanism to reflect this risk and the time taken to recover lost carbon stocks (page 32 of the method doc).

If we want to minimise the risk of forest ecosystems losing carbon stocks to the atmosphere, and to maintain their capacity to sequester carbon and avoid ecosystem tipping points — as is happening in parts of Victoria (17) - the integrity of forest ecosystems must be restored to improve their resistance and resilience to threats that are increasing with climate change. Climate trends and the interaction of logging with threats which are increasing with climate change, like severe fire, should be informing mechanisms designed to ensure permanence.

Accounting for wildfire in the permanence period

The method proposes to align with Australia's greenhouse gas (GHG) accounts which "factors out non-anthropogenic impacts on relevant carbon stocks and sources (of emissions)". Assessing the accounting treatment of wildfire in the method requires expert knowledge of Australia's approach to reporting and accounting for emissions from 'non-anthropogenic fire'. While improvements are being made in how the NGGI differentiates between non-anthropogenic and anthropogenic fire, more needs to be done to reflect the role of ecosystem fragmentation, logging and other forms of degradation on increasing fire severity (and thus emissions) and on increasing the risk of future emissions. Accounting approaches for emissions from bushfires need to take into the impact of human influenced climate change on worsening dangerous fire weather conditions (14). Shifting fire regimes could mean that emissions from bushfires many not necessarily be balanced by removals through forest recovery. Increasing severity and severity of wildfires and their cumulative impact can reduce the ecological recovery of forests. As threats associated with climate change increase, ignoring the increased risk arising from the interaction between logging and fire in the method would likely pose a problem for successful marketing of forest ACCUs (16).

4. Leakage

Dealing with leakage is a critically important challenge for the method. Without tight controls, leakage between states, RFA regions and into private native forests would occur.

How the method proposes to deal with Leakage

The mechanism chosen to prevent direct leakage is by establishing modified sustained yield baselines in "excluded sections of the proponents native forest estate" – i.e., all state-owned native forests outside the project area - utilizing the same modified sustained yield approach as that required for the project baseline. This is aimed at ensuring any increase in logging outside the project area will be penalized by reducing the number of ACCUs able to be generated from the project area.

A similar approach to developing a counterfactual baseline would be developed for private native forests (PNF) in "the same jurisdiction" as the project. Wildfire may be excluded from 3 of the 10 years of the historical baseline period even though "Lack of sustained yield estimates for PNF, high levels of uncertainty in log production estimates and high levels of uncertainty re wildfire impacts on harvesting and log production" (P39) make developing a baseline and assessing leakage into PNF difficult. Indirect leakage (e.g., leakage into other states) would be dealt with by applying a 5% indirect leakage deduction (P38) - a low discount rate in light of experience in Victoria. A regulatory change would be needed to prevent leakage between states and to prevent logging for the purpose of fire management.

Leakage into the plantation estate

Plantation timber has been progressively replacing native forest hardwood in the building sector over the past three decades, to the point where 90% of our domestic timber needs are now sourced from plantations (28). The method does not reflect consideration of the degree to which reductions in native forest supply would be met by increased logging and wood production in the plantation estate. Given that plantation timber, including softwood, directly out-competes native forest wood in almost all building products in all domestic markets, leakage would probably, if not inevitably, occur into the plantation estate (which in every other respect is desirable). An additional discount should be applied to products that can be substituted by plantations.

Cross Subsidization

The potential for cross subsidisation is identified as a potential pathway for leakage but is not addressed adequately in the method provisions. In the context of declining markets and increasing pressure to protect more native forests and remove subsidies for native forest logging, an ACCU method that pays State governments to protect and/or defer logging in some areas will always act as a subsidy to enable ongoing logging that would otherwise not be economically viable. Repeated economic analyses show that the native forest logging industry is not financially viable (71–73) so there is a high risk that funding generated from ACCUs would be used to keep subsidizing loss-making logging operations elsewhere in the landscape and delay reductions in, or an end to, native forest logging that would occur in the absence of ACCU revenue. Even within a project area, there will be areas of forest on low productivity sites and steep and rocky ground that are too expensive or otherwise too difficult to log. At the margin, revenue from ACCUs will make it feasible to log areas that in the absence of ACCUs would not be logged and/or increase the risk that carbon credits will be claimed for not logging places that would otherwise never have been logged.

5. Coverage of carbon pools

Soil organic carbon is excluded from the method. While it is acknowledged that estimation of soil carbon stocks and detecting change in stocks at landscape scales is challenging, the scientific evidence shows that harvesting practices deplete soil carbon stocks and thus omitting soil carbon will underestimate the losses of carbon from harvesting (74). In addition to soil carbon depletion, there are many other soil properties that are degraded due to mechanical damage, as well as changes in microclimate and vegetation as a result of logging (27). The omission of soil carbon in the baseline and project scenario will mean that the total carbon losses due to harvesting are not recorded even though the impacts of logging on soil carbon stocks are well known. Where the uncertainty lies is in the time taken for recovery of soil carbon stocks – making carbon recovery in soil difficult to ascertain and attribute over short periods (e.g., 15 years).

6. Revisions needed to FullCAM

As currently calibrated, FullCAM underestimates the carbon accumulation rates and carbon storage potential of protected forests that have older ages, as it is not calibrated adequately to estimate carbon carrying capacity of long unlogged/old growth forests nor all forest types. To help overcome this limitation, the proposed initial inventory of forest carbon stocks in the project area used to calibrate FullCAM should include old growth sites and other high integrity, long unlogged sites, to provide a reference condition that can be used to calibrate the carbon carrying capacity and hence estimate the potential carbon gain of regenerating forests.

A significant issue, given the increasing number of extreme weather events we are likely to experience over the project period, is how the effects of increased seasonal climate variability and climate change trends will be incorporated in the FullCAM model. The increased risks of losing forest carbon stocks to

the atmosphere by keeping forests in a relatively young age class should be factored into modelling. The focus on changes in net annual fluxes misses the main mitigation value of forest ecosystems, namely, long term carbon retention (29).

The carbon storage potential of a forest region where the forest is managed for commodity production, (i.e., the additional carbon that can be removed from the atmosphere and retained in the ecosystem stock if logging ceases) should be considered at a landscape scale, inclusive of the effects of natural disturbance regimes on the age distribution of the forest and rates of carbon gain and loss (11, 75). The total carbon storage may vary over time within a range defined by the variability in response to the disturbance regime. However, the time-averaged storage of carbon remains; it is not temporary storage. Changes should be reported as gross changes in stocks, emissions and removals.

References

- 1. S. Becken, G. Miller, D. S. Lee, B. Mackey, The scientific basis of 'net zero emissions' and its diverging sociopolitical representation. *Sci. Total Environ.* **918**, 170725 (2024).
- 2. UN, "Emissions Gap Report 2024 | UNEP UN Environment Programme" (2024); https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2024.
- 3. B. Mackey, D. Lindenmayer, Fossil fuels' future. Science 345, 739-740 (2014).
- 4. B. Mackey, W. Moomaw, D. Lindenmayer, H. Keith, Net carbon accounting and reporting are a barrier to understanding the mitigation value of forest protection in developed countries. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **17**, 054028 (2022).
- 5. B. M. Rogers, B. Mackey, T. A. Shestakova, H. Keith, V. Young, C. F. Kormos, D. A. DellaSala, J. Dean, R. Birdsey, G. Bush, R. A. Houghton, W. R. Moomaw, Using ecosystem integrity to maximize climate mitigation and minimize risk in international forest policy. *Front. For. Glob. Change* **5** (2022).
- 6. UNFCCC, First Global Stocktake (2023). https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma2023_L17_adv.pdf.
- 7. UN, Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework (2024). https://www.cbd.int/gbf.
- 8. UN, "System of Environmental-Economic Accounting Ecosystem Accounting (SEEA EA) | DESA Publications" (Statistical Paper Series F No. 124, 2024); https://desapublications.un.org/publications/system-environmental-economic-accounting-ecosystem-accounting-seea-ea.
- 9. ABS, National Ecosystem Accounts, experimental estimates, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2025); https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/environment/environmental-management/national-ecosystem-accounts-experimental-estimates/latest-release.
- H. Keith, D. Lindenmayer, A. Macintosh, B. Mackey, Under What Circumstances Do Wood Products from Native Forests Benefit Climate Change Mitigation? *PLOS ONE* 10, e0139640 (2015).
- 11. H. Keith, B. Mackey, Z. Kun, M. Mikoláš, M. Svitok, M. Svoboda, Evaluating the mitigation effectiveness of forests managed for conservation versus commodity production using an Australian example. *Conserv. Lett.*, e12878 (2022).

- 12. ForCorp, "Annual Timber and Biomaterials Report;" https://www.forestrycorporation.com.au/about/pubs/timber-volumes-and-modelling/biomaterial-reports.
- 13. ABC, Calls for probe as NSW Forestry Corp revises years of logging data, *ABC News* (2025). https://www.abc.net.au/news/2025-02-07/nsw-forestry-corporation-logging-data-error-revised/104908728.
- 14. IPCC, "Working Group II contributoin fo the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Impacts, Vulnerability and Adaptation" (WMO and UNEP, 2022).
- 15. C. R. Dickman, Ecological consequences of Australia's "Black Summer" bushfires: Managing for recovery. *Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag.* **17**, 1162–1167 (2021).
- 16. Logging elevated the probability of high-severity fire in the 2019–20 Australian forest fires | Nature Ecology & Evolution. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41559-022-01717-y.
- 17. D. B. Lindenmayer, E. J. Bowd, C. Taylor, G. E. Likens, The interactions among fire, logging, and climate change have sprung a landscape trap in Victoria's montane ash forests. *Plant Ecol.*, 1–17 (2022).
- 18. H. Keith, Z. Kun, S. Hugh, M. Svoboda, M. Mikoláš, D. Adam, D. Bernatski, V. Blujdea, F. Bohn, J. J. Camarero, L. Demeter, A. Di Filippo, I. Dutcă, M. Garbarino, F. Horváth, V. Ivkovich, Ā. Jansons, L. Ķēņina, K. Kral, D. Martin-Benito, J. A. Molina-Valero, R. Motta, T. A. Nagel, M. Panayotov, C. Pérez-Cruzado, G. Piovesan, C.-C. Roibu, P. Šamonil, O. Vostarek, M. Yermokhin, T. Zlatanov, B. Mackey, Carbon carrying capacity in primary forests shows potential for mitigation achieving the European Green Deal 2030 target. *Commun. Earth Environ.* 5, 1–13 (2024).
- M. Ward, K. Ashman, D. B. Lindenmayer, S. Legge, G. Kindler, T. Cadman, R. Fletcher, N. Whiterod, M. Lintermans, P. Zylstra, R. Stewart, H. Thomas, S. Blanch, J. E. M. Watson, Shifting baselines clarify the impact of contemporary logging on forest-dependent threatened species. *Conserv. Sci. Pract.* 6, e13185 (2024).
- 20. UN, "CMA 5 | UNFCCC;" https://unfccc.int/event/cma-5.
- 21. C. Kayo, G. Kalt, Y. Tsunetsugu, S. Hashimoto, H. Komata, R. Noda, H. Oka, The default methods in the 2019 Refinement drastically reduce estimates of global carbon sinks of harvested wood products. *Carbon Balance Manag.* **16**, 37 (2021).
- 22. D. A. Hughes, L., Steffen, W., Mullins, G., Dean, Annika, Welsbrot, E., Rice, M., "Summer of crisis" (Climate Council of Australia Ltd, 2020); https://www.climatecouncil.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Crisis-Summer-Report-200311.pdf.
- 23. P. J. Zylstra, D. B. Lindenmayer, S. D. Bradshaw, Reply to Comment on 'Self-thinning forest understoreys reduce wildfire risk, even in a warming climate.' *Environ. Res. Lett.* **19**, 058001 (2024).
- 24. D. Lindenmayer, C. Taylor, W. Blanchard, Empirical analyses of the factors influencing fire severity in southeastern Australia. *Ecosphere* **12**, e03721 (2021).
- 25. Pepper, M., John, J., "Breaches: profiling the recent history of logging breaches by Forestry Corporation of NSW" (Forest Advocacy Ministry); https://www.unitingearthweb.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Breaches_web.pdf.

- 26. Debus, B., "INTENSIFICATION OF LOGGING IN THE GREAT KOALA NATIONAL PARK" (Wilderness Australia and National Parks Association of NSW, 2024).
- 27. E. J. Bowd, S. C. Banks, C. L. Strong, D. B. Lindenmayer, Long-term impacts of wildfire and logging on forest soils. *Nat. Geosci.* **12**, 113–118 (2019).
- 28. ABARES, "Australian forest and wood products statistics Production to 2022-2023" (Australiann Department of Agrictulture, Fisheries and Forestry, 2024); https://daff.ent.sirsidynix.net.au/client/en_AU/search/asset/1035883/0.
- 29. B. Mackey, I. C. Prentice, W. Steffen, J. I. House, D. Lindenmayer, H. Keith, S. Berry, Untangling the confusion around land carbon science and climate change mitigation policy. *Nat. Clim. Change* **3**, 552–557 (2013).
- 30. U. UN, "Integrity Matters: Net-Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities" (United Nations); https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/high-level-expert-group.
- 31. ISO Net Zero Guidelines, ISO (2022). https://www.iso.org/netzero.
- 32. P. Hemming, "Integrity at home shapes global outcomes Polly Hemming | Climate Integrity Summit 2025" in *The Australia Institute* (2025; https://australiainstitute.org.au/post/integrity-at-home-shapes-global-outcomes-polly-hemming-climate-integrity-summit-2025/).
- 33. NZE, 2024 Annual Report, *Net Zero Commission* (2024). https://www.netzerocommission.nsw.gov.au/2024-annual-report.
- 34. H. O. Pörtner, R. J. Scholes, J. Agard, E. Archer, A. Arneth, X. Bai, D. Barnes, M. Burrows, L. Chan, W. L. W. Cheung, Scientific outcome of the IPBES-IPCC co-sponsored workshop on biodiversity and climate change. (2021).
- 35. B. Mackey, Morgan ,Edward, H. and Keith, Evaluating forest landscape management for ecosystem integrity. *Landsc. Res.* **49**, 246–267 (2024).
- 36. D. Lindenmayer, P. Zylstra, Identifying and managing disturbance-stimulated flammability in woody ecosystems. *Biol. Rev.* **99**, 699–714 (2024).
- 37. D. Lindenmayer, P. Zylstra, C. T. Hanson, D. Six, D. A. DellaSala, When Active Management of high conservation value forests may erode biodiversity and damage ecosystems. *Biol. Conserv.* **305**, 111071 (2025).
- J. A. Lutz, T. J. Furniss, D. J. Johnson, S. J. Davies, D. Allen, A. Alonso, K. J. Anderson-Teixeira, A. Andrade, J. Baltzer, K. M. L. Becker, E. M. Blomdahl, N. A. Bourg, S. Bunyavejchewin, D. F. R. P. Burslem, C. A. Cansler, K. Cao, M. Cao, D. Cárdenas, L.-W. Chang, K.-J. Chao, W.-C. Chao, J.-M. Chiang, C. Chu, G. B. Chuyong, K. Clay, R. Condit, S. Cordell, H. S. Dattaraja, A. Duque, C. E. N. Ewango, G. A. Fischer, C. Fletcher, J. A. Freund, C. Giardina, S. J. Germain, G. S. Gilbert, Z. Hao, T. Hart, B. C. H. Hau, F. He, A. Hector, R. W. Howe, C.-F. Hsieh, Y.-H. Hu, S. P. Hubbell, F. M. Inman-Narahari, A. Itoh, D. Janík, A. R. Kassim, D. Kenfack, L. Korte, K. Král, A. J. Larson, Y. Li, Y. Lin, S. Liu, S. Lum, K. Ma, J.-R. Makana, Y. Malhi, S. M. McMahon, W. J. McShea, H. R. Memiaghe, X. Mi, M. Morecroft, P. M. Musili, J. A. Myers, V. Novotny, A. de Oliveira, P. Ong, D. A. Orwig, R. Ostertag, G. G. Parker, R. Patankar, R. P. Phillips, G. Reynolds, L. Sack, G.-Z. M. Song, S.-H. Su, R. Sukumar, I.-F. Sun, H. S. Suresh, M. E. Swanson, S. Tan, D. W. Thomas, J. Thompson, M. Uriarte, R. Valencia, A. Vicentini, T. Vrška, X. Wang, G. D. Weiblen, A. Wolf, S.-H. Wu, H. Xu, T. Yamakura, S. Yap, J. K. Zimmerman, Global importance of large-diameter trees. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 27, 849–864 (2018).

- 39. D. B. Lindenmayer, W. Blanchard, D. Blair, L. McBurney, S. C. Banks, Relationships between tree size and occupancy by cavity-dependent arboreal marsupials. *For. Ecol. Manag.* **391**, 221–229 (2017).
- 40. D. B. Lindenmayer, E. Bowd, K. Youngentob, M. J. Evans, Quantifying drivers of decline: A case study of long-term changes in arboreal marsupial detections. *Biol. Conserv.* **293**, 110589 (2024).
- 41. H. Keith, B. G. Mackey, D. B. Lindenmayer, Re-evaluation of forest biomass carbon stocks and lessons from the world's most carbon-dense forests. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **106**, 11635–11640 (2009).
- 42. J. Au, R. G. Clark, C. Allen, K. J. Marsh, W. J. Foley, K. N. Youngentob, A nutritional mechanism underpinning folivore occurrence in disturbed forests. *For. Ecol. Manag.* **453**, 117585 (2019).
- 43. D. B. Lindenmayer, R. J. Hobbs, G. E. Likens, C. J. Krebs, S. C. Banks, Newly discovered landscape traps produce regime shifts in wet forests. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **108**, 15887–15891 (2011).
- 44. B. Mackey, S. Cadman, N. Rogers, S. Hugh, Assessing the risk to the conservation status of temperate rainforest from exposure to mining, commercial logging, and climate change: A Tasmanian case study. *Biol. Conserv.* **215**, 19–29 (2017).
- 45. UNSEEA, SEEA Around the World | System of Environmental Economic Accounting (2025). https://seea.un.org/content/global-assessment-environmental-economic-accounting.
- 46. B. Mackey, C. F. Kormos, H. Keith, W. R. Moomaw, R. A. Houghton, R. A. Mittermeier, D. Hole, S. Hugh, Understanding the importance of primary tropical forest protection as a mitigation strategy. *Mitig. Adapt. Strateg. Glob. Change* **25**, 763–787 (2020).
- 47. H. Keith, M. Vardon, J. A. Stein, J. L. Stein, D. Lindenmayer, Ecosystem accounts define explicit and spatial trade-offs for managing natural resources. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* **1**, 1683–1692 (2017).
- 48. M. Ward, K. Ashman, D. B. Lindenmayer, S. Legge, G. Kindler, T. Cadman, R. Fletcher, N. Whiterod, M. Lintermans, P. Zylstra, R. Stewart, H. Thomas, S. Blanch, J. E. M. Watson, Shifting baselines clarify the impact of contemporary logging on forest-dependent threatened species. *Conserv. Sci. Pract.* 6, e13185 (2024).
- 49. P. Norman, B. Mackey, A decision support tool for habitat connectivity in Australia. *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* **30** (2024).
- 50. P. Norman, B. Mackey, Priority areas for conserving greater gliders in Queensland, Australia. *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* **30**, NULL-NULL (2023).
- 51. Flawed forest policy: flawed Regional Forest Agreements: Australasian Journal of Environmental Management: Vol 25 , No 3 Get Access. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14486563.2018.1466372.
- 52. R. L. Pressey, G. L. Whish, T. W. Barrett, M. E. Watts, Effectiveness of protected areas in north-eastern New South Wales: recent trends in six measures. *Biol. Conserv.* **106**, 57–69 (2002).
- 53. D. Lindenmayer, P. Burnett, Biodiversity in court: will the Regional Forest Agreements (RFAs) make the EPBC Act irrelevant? *Pac. Conserv. Biol.* **28**, 393–397 (2021).
- 54. NRC, "Final report Coastal IFOA operations post 2019/20 wildfires" (Natural Resources Commission, NSW Government, 2021);

- https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/lcdocs/other/17530/23%20August%202022%20%20PC%207%20-%20tabled%20by%20Sue%20Higginson.pdf.
- 55. Smith, A.P., "REVIEW OF CIFOA MITIGATION CONDITIONS FOR TIMBER HARVESTING IN BURNT LANDSCAPES. A Report to the NSW Environment Protection Authority" (2020); https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/sites/default/files/review-of-cifoa-mitigation-conditions-for-timber-harvesting-in-burnt-landscapes.pdf.
- 56. ABARES, "Australia's State of the Forests Report DAFF" (2025); https://www.agriculture.gov.au/abares/forestsaustralia/sofr.
- 57. Nielson, D., The future of Australian eucalyptus plantations (2025)pp. 6–7.
- 58. EE, "Risk Based Proactive Pole Replacement Program RIT-D Non-Network Screening Notice" (Essential Energy); https://www.essentialenergy.com.au/-/media/Project/EssentialEnergy/Website/Files/Our-Network/Non-Network-Screening-Notice-Pole-Replacement-Program.pdf?rev=9e8c2a53853849e7b19c9305a7a0ecad#:~:text=To%20address%20the%20inc reasing%20risk,being%20endorsed%20through%20this%20process.corp.
- 59. B. Mackey, D. Lindenmayer, P. Norman, C. Taylor, S. Gould, Are fire refugia less predictable due to climate change? *Environ. Res. Lett.* **16**, 114028 (2021).
- 60. S. M. Davey, A. and Sarre, Editorial: the 2019/20 Black Summer bushfires. *Aust. For.* **83**, 47–51 (2020).
- 61. D. B. Lindenmayer, Forest Biodiversity Declines and Extinctions Linked with Forest Degradation: A Case Study from Australian Tall, Wet Forests. *Land* **12**, 528 (2023).
- 62. N. J. Abram, B. J. Henley, A. Sen Gupta, T. J. R. Lippmann, H. Clarke, A. J. Dowdy, J. J. Sharples, R. H. Nolan, T. Zhang, M. J. Wooster, J. B. Wurtzel, K. J. Meissner, A. J. Pitman, A. M. Ukkola, B. P. Murphy, N. J. Tapper, M. M. Boer, Connections of climate change and variability to large and extreme forest fires in southeast Australia. *Commun. Earth Environ.* **2**, 1–17 (2021).
- 63. H. Keith, D. B. Lindenmayer, B. G. Mackey, D. Blair, L. Carter, L. McBurney, S. Okada, T. Konishi-Nagano, Accounting for Biomass Carbon Stock Change Due to Wildfire in Temperate Forest Landscapes in Australia. *PLOS ONE* **9**, e107126 (2014).
- 64. J. Dargavel, Fashioning Australia's Forests (Oxford University Press).
- 65. J. Fischer, D. B. Lindenmayer, Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* (2007).
- 66. Law, B.E., Hudiburg, T.W., Harmon, M., Land use strategies to mitigate climate change in carbon dense temperate forests | PNAS. *PNAS* **115**, 3663–3668 (2018).
- 67. FAO, FAOSTAT: Forestry Production and Trade, (2025); https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FO.
- 68. ABARES, "ABARES National Wood Processing Survey 2021–22" (Australian Bureau of Agricultural Resource Economics and Sciences (ABARES), 2024); https://daff.ent.sirsidynix.net.au/client/en_AU/ABARES/search/detailnonmodal/ent:\$002f\$002 fSD_ASSET\$002f0\$002fSD_ASSET:1036362/one.
- 69. STT, "2024 Annual Report" (Sustainable Timber Tasmania, 2024).

- 70. N. Wilson, R. Bradstock, Past Logging and Wildfire Increase above Ground Carbon Stock Losses from Subsequent Wildfire. *Fire* **5**, 26 (2022).
- 71. Chapman, B., Mitchell, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., A Disturbing Example of Inequitable and Expensive Government Subsidies: The Logging of Native Forests in Australia, *Australian Quarterly*. **96** (2025)pp. 17–25.
- 72. MacIntosh, A., "Comparing the value of alternative uses of native forests in Southern NSW" (Frontier Economics and The ANU, 2021); https://www.frontier-economics.com.au/documents/2021/11/comparing-the-value-of-alternative-uses-of-native-forest-in-southern-nsw.pdf.
- 73. FrEc, "Public native forest logging: a large and growing taxpayer burden: A report for the Nature Conservation Council of NSW" (Frontier Economics, 2023); https://assets.nationbuilder.com/natureorg/pages/2713/attachments/original/1699421741/23 -11- 02_Public_native_forestry_a_growing_taxpayer_burden_Final_report_STC_%281%29.pdf?169 9421741.
- 74. M. A. Rab, Measures and operating standards for assessing Montreal process soil sustainability indicators with reference to Victorian Central Highlands forest, southeastern Australia. *For. Ecol. Manag.* **117**, 53–73 (1999).
- 75. H. Keith, B. Mackey, S. Berry, D. Lindenmayer, P. Gibbons, Estimating carbon carrying capacity in natural forest ecosystems across heterogeneous landscapes: addressing sources of error. *Glob. Change Biol.* **16**, 2971–2989 (2010).

Appendix 1 Mitigation benefits of native forest protection

There is an opportunity for a change to native forest policy to reduce to Australia's emissions by 25.5 Mt CO2e per annum (5.9% of total annual emissions, or 30% of our annual gap to Paris target).

Australia has a significant opportunity to reduce emissions and increase carbon storage from changing forest management. Annual emissions could be reduced through two key actions: (1) ending native forest logging which would avoid 7-11 Mt CO2e emissions and enable ongoing removals of 2 Mt CO2e which are otherwise forgone and (2) stopping land clearing which would avoid 14.5 Mt CO2e emissions and enable ongoing removals¹. These changes could play a crucial role in meeting Australia's Paris COP Agreement commitment of a 43% reduction in 2005-level carbon emissions². With an annual gap of around 85 Mt CO2e ³, improved native forest protection and restoration alone could contribute about 30% of the reductions required.

Opportunity 1: Ending Native Forest Logging (~11 Mt CO2e per year; 13% of Australia's annual Paris Gap; 2.5% of annual total CO2e emissions)

- Australia's native forest logging industry provides only 10% of Australia's wood supply (90% is from plantations) and the area of native forest logged has steadily declined over the past 30 years. Log production volume was still about 2.5 million m³ per year as of 2022-2023⁴ from logging around 10.7 M ha of native forest⁵.
- This logging of forests results in an estimated 7-11 Mt CO2e emissions⁵ (with an average of 9 Mt CO2e) as well as around 2 Mt CO2e foregone removals (i.e., the sequestration that would have occurred if the forest had not been logged)⁶.
- If native forest logging were entirely halted, the emissions would be avoided and the removals would continue, yielding an 11 Mt CO2e annual contribution to Australia's Paris Agreement target.
- Australia's National GHG Inventory Reports show a strong correlation between emissions from the area under forest management and native forest log production. However, "net emissions" are reported which are calculated by summing (a) the emissions from the 1-2% of the public native forests available for logging and harvested each year, with (b) the removals of CO2 from the atmosphere (sequestration) from growth in the unlogged 98-99% of the forest area. When the sum of the emissions and removals is a negative number, it means that more carbon is being removed in a year than is emitted. The latest inventory report shows the forest land sector has "net emissions" of -88 Mt CO2e, of which about -23 Mt CO2e are from native forests. If native

 $^{^{1}}$ The magnitude of these removals is related to the forest type that would have been cleared and no estimates are currently available.

² Australia's Nationally Determined Contribution, 2022, (https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/Australias%20NDC%20June%202022%20Update%20%283%29.pdf)

 $^{{\}small 3~Quarterly~update~of~Australia's~National~Greenhouse~Gas~Inventory,~March~2024~(https://www.dcceew.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/nggi-quarterly-update-march-2024.pdf)}$

⁴Australian forest and wood products statistics Production to 2022-23; https://daff.ent.sirsidynix.net.au/client/en_AU/search/asset/1035883/0

⁵ Australia State of Forest Report criterion 1 forest area by tenure

https://www.agriculture.gov.au/abares/forestsaustralia/sofr/criterion-1/indicator-1.1a.ii-forest-area-by-tenure#area-of-australias-forest-by-tenure-class

⁵ The estimated range of logging emissions is 7-11 Mt CO₂e. The wide range in values is because there is little public data available on emissions from logging and gross emissions are not reported. The minimum amount is the emissions from deforestation reported in the Australian Government's 2022 <u>national GHG inventory report</u> plus a conservative estimate of emissions from <u>native forest logging</u>. The maximum includes logging emissions based on estimates from native forest log production presented in the national report plus supporting evidence from <u>additional sources</u>. Further academic research is needed to calculate more precise estimates nationally, and for each state and forest region.

⁶ This estimate assumes that of the 9.9 M ha of native multiple use public forest (<u>1.1a.ii Forest area by tenure (2023) - DAFF</u>), 1% is logged in a year and if this forest was not logged the continued growth would sequester 18 t CO₂ per ha per year, producing 1.8 Mt CO₂ in removals.

forest logging were to cease, this would increase to -32 Mt CO2e because there would no longer be 9 Mt CO2e of logging emissions. (Foregone removals are not included here.)

• The federal government could immediately achieve 84% of this potential reduction by legislating to end native forest logging on public land (16% is private native forest logging)⁷.

Opportunity 2: Stopping Land Clearing (14.5 Mt CO2e per year; 17% of the annual Paris Gap; 3.4% of annual total CO2e emissions)

- Australia is one of world's 24 deforestation hotspots⁸, and the only developed nation on list. In 2022, land clearing in Australia generated 14.5 Mt CO2e of direct emissions, with 5.9 Mt CO2e from primary forest clearing and 8.6 Mt CO2e from secondary clearing⁹.
- These figures would be higher if foregone carbon sequestration were included. However, estimating this requires data on the growth rates of the forest types undergoing clearing.
- Since much of the land clearing occurs on private land, government intervention and policy measures would be required to reduce these emissions. Implementing these policies may take time but could significantly contribute to Australia's emissions reduction goals.

Note: "Bio-carbon" (carbon stored in vegetation and soils) and "geo-carbon" (carbon stored in fossil fuels) are not considered equivalent. Effective carbon offsets must operate on a timescale aligned with the longevity of carbon's presence in the atmosphere. ¹⁰

Authors: Prof Brendan Mackey and Dr Heather Keith Climate Action Beacon, Griffith University, Queensland

⁷ 2020 National Inventory Report, May 2022 – Volume 3, Table 11.28

 $^{^{8}\} https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/jan/13/australia-the-only-developed-nation-on-world-list-of-\\ \ deforestation-hotspots$

⁹ https://greenhouseaccounts.climatechange.gov.au/ Activity Table 1990-2022 – LULUCF (excel) table 6

¹⁰ https://www.nrdc.org/stories/greenhouse-effect-101#gases ("Once [CO₂] is emitted into the atmosphere, 40 percent still remains after 100 years, 20 percent after 1,000 years, and 10 percent as long as 10,000 years later)